THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Supreme Court

---

**RECEIVED**

**Feb 25 2025**

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

---

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

Appellate Case No. 2024-000979

---

Thomas Stafford,.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, .....Respondent.

---

**PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

E. Charles Grose, Jr.  
S.C. Bar Number 66063  
The Grose Law Firm, LLC  
305 Main Street  
Greenwood, SC 29646  
(864) 538-4466  
(864) 538-4405 (fax)  
Email: charles@groselawfirm.com

*Attorney for the Petitioner Thomas Stafford*

**

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

### *Question I*

Should this Court require post-conviction relief judges to draft the final orders in PCR cases in order to ensure the findings of fact and conclusions of law, required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80, are those of the court, rather than an advocate, and to preserve the separation of powers between the judicial branch and executive branch as required by S.C. Const. Art. I, § 8?

### *Question II*

Was trial counsel ineffective for not moving to withdraw the guilty plea when the State changed the plea negotiations on the eve of the guilty plea, Thomas Stafford was confused during the guilty plea, and the State did not honor its agreement to remain silent on the recommended sentence?

### *Question III*

Was trial counsel ineffective for not conducting a complete mental health evaluation of Thomas Stafford when that evaluation would have revealed a defense to leaving the scene of an accident and would have provided valuable mitigation evidence that would have resulted in a more favorable sentence?

## STATEMENT OF CASE

For an incident occurring on December 3, 2012, the State charged Thomas Stafford with felony driving under the influence (DUI) resulting in death and leaving the scene of an accident resulting in death. A. 3-8. On October 3, 2013, Mr. Stafford pled guilty before the Honorable Robert E. Hood. Anna Good represented Mr. Stafford, and Rick Collins represented the State. 9-56. Judge Hood sentenced Mr. Stafford to concurrent terms of seventeen years. A. 1-2, 55.

Mr. Stafford appealed to the Court of Appeals of South Carolina but moved to dismiss that appeal as no issues were preserved for appeal during the guilty plea. *State v. Stafford* Appellate Case No. 2010-170387. The Court of Appeals granted to motion to dismiss on November 11, 2014 and the Remittitur issued on November 30, 2014.

On May 22, 2015, Mr. Stafford filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). A. 61-66. On December 5, 2016, the State filed a return. A. 68-72. On June 23, 2023, the Honorable Edward N. Miller convened an evidentiary hearing. Undersigned counsel represented Mr. Stafford, and Donald J. Zelenka represented the State. A. 69-200. On July 3, 2023, Mr. Stafford submitted a post-hearing brief. A. 302-20. On January 19, 2024, Judge Miller issued an order of dismissal. A. 321-45. On March 7, 2024, Mr. Stafford filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCF motion and proffered the State's proposed order, which is identical to the order of dismissal. A. 346-81. On May 3, 2024, the State filed a response in opposition to the motion. A. 382-97. On May 22, 2024, Judge Miller denied the motion. A. 398-411. This petition for a writ of certiorari follows.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On December 3, 2012, Mr. Stafford was driving a 2003 Nissan Pathfinder westbound on I-20 near mile marker 62 in Lexington County. A Department of Transportation cleaning crew was working on this section of the highway. Mr. Stafford's vehicle struck one of the workers, Nicholas Johnson, who died instantaneously from his injuries. Mr. Stafford stopped his vehicle nearby. Toxicology results from the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division ("SLED") revealed Mr. Stafford had Xanax and Methadone in his blood system, both of which were prescribed by doctors who were aware of each other's prescriptions. The State charged Mr. Stafford with felony driving under the influence ("DUI"), death resulting, and leaving the scene of an accident, death resulting. A. 18-26, 83-86.

On October 3, 2013, Mr. Stafford plead guilty to felony DUI and leaving the scene of an accident. The plea to leaving the scene of an accident was pursuant to *North Carolina*

*v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). The plea judge twice asked Mr. Stafford to explain, in his own words, the meaning of an *Alford* plea. Mr. Stafford was not able to do so. A. 14-15. First Sargent Chris Shelton, of the South Carolina Highway Patrol, addressed the plea judge and asked for the maximum sentence allowed by law. A. 35. Trial counsel requested a sentence “between two and five years.” A. 50.

Dr. Donna Schwartz Maddox, a forensic psychiatrist, testified at the evidentiary hearing. At the request of trial counsel, Dr. Maddox examined Mr. Stafford at the Lexington County Detention Center on January 13, 2023. She considered Mr. Stafford “at risk for neurological and cognitive deficits” and requested neuropsychological testing. Mr. Stafford had poor memory, which can be caused by “psychiatric reasons” or “brain damage.” On a “neurological exam,” Mr. Stafford has “nystagmus,” which can be a symptom of “cognitive dysfunction.” Dr. Maddox also wanted blood tests and an an neurologist or neuropsychologist to perform an “EEG to make sure he had not had a seizure.” A. 74-79.

Trial counsel obtained the services of Dr. Tora Brawley, a neuropsychologist. When Dr. Brawley evaluated Mr. Stafford, “he did not give a good effort” and “she did not continue testing.” In addition to malingering, Dr. Maddox testified a person might not put forward a good effort during testing for “psychiatric reasons” or because “they may be tired.” Dr. Maddox’s involvement in Mr. Stafford’s pre-trial investigation ended at this point. A. 79-81.

Dr. Maddox testified about her involvement in Mr. Stafford’s post-conviction investigation. Dr. Brawley saw Mr. Stafford again, and “he gave adequate effort.” Dr. Brawley’s testing confirmed Dr. Maddox’s initial findings. Mr. Stafford “had difficulty in

memory, in motor testing, and his verbal memory was severely impaired.” Mr. Stafford’s “speed and dexterity were impaired on his right hand.” Dr. Brawley also discovered “asymmetries in the brain.” A. 81-82.

Dr. Maddox also testified about her consultation with Dr. Thomas Pritchard, a neurologist at the Medical University of South Carolina. Dr. Pritchard performed an EEG, “which was normal.” Dr. Pritchard opined Mr. Stafford “had amnesia for the events of 2012.” A. 82-83.

Dr. Maddox considered Mr. Stafford’s social history. He had “a very unstable childhood,” including “attend[ing] 19 different schools,” “numerous moves,” witnessing domestic violence in his mother’s unstable relationships, and being a victim of sexual abuse.” Mr. Stafford’s biological father was an “opiate addict.” Mr. Stafford was prescribed opiates for back pain and became addicted. He voluntarily went to a methadone clinic to get off opiates. At the same time, another medical provider prescribed Klonopin. That Mr. Stafford was prescribed methadone and Klonopin at the same time is not the best medical practice. A. 83-86.

Dr. Maddox offered her opinion about Mr. Stafford’s behavior at the time of the accident. Mr. Stafford went to the methadone clinic at 6:00 a.m. that morning. He worked and had a light lunch. Klonopin can “cause sedation.” Mr. Stafford “has some motor dysfunction, that could have impaired the speed of his reflexes when his brain processed the DOT worker on the side of the road.” These factors also explain why Mr. Stafford drove

approximately an eighth of a mile after wreck and before he pulled over. A. 86-88; *see also* Applicant's Ex. 2, 3 (A. 202-211).<sup>1</sup>

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under the first prong of *Strickland v. Washington*, a defendant “must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness,” which must be judged under “prevailing professional norms.” 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984). “The first prong—constitutional deficiency—is necessarily linked to the practice and expectations of the legal community: The proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” *Padilla v. Kentucky*, 559 U.S. 356, 366 (2010) (internal quotations omitted). “If the State contends the alleged deficiency resulted from a strategic decision made at trial, counsel must articulate a valid reason for employing a certain strategy.” *Freiburger v. State*, 413 S.C. 243, 247, 775 S.E.2d 391, 393 (Ct. App. 2015); *cf. Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 560 S.E.2d 401 (2002).

The second prong of *Strickland* requires a defendant establish this deficiency prejudiced him. “The defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Strickland*, at 694. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome. *Id.* “In determining whether the applicant has proven prejudice, the PCR court should consider the specific impact counsel’s error had on the outcome of the trial.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 188, 810 S.E.2d 836, 843 (2018)<sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup> Dr. Maddox also testified about issues with Mr. Stafford’s competency during the pendency of the PCR. A. 88-90.

<sup>2</sup> *See also Thompson v. State*, 423 S.C. 235, 245, 814 S.E.2d 487, 492 (2018) (adhering to *Smalls*).

(citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695-96 (explaining that the court must analyze how individual errors of counsel affect the important factual findings in a particular case)).

“The decision whether to plead guilty also involves assessing the respective consequences of a conviction after trial and by plea.” *Lee v. United States*, 582 U.S. 357, 367 (2017). The High Court cautioned, “Courts should not upset a plea solely because of *post hoc* assertions from a defendant about how he would have pleaded but for his attorney’s deficiencies. Rather, they should look to contemporaneous evidence to substantiate a defendant’s expressed preferences.” *Id.*

This Court’s “standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before” it. *Mangal v. State*, 421 S.C. 85, 91-92, 805 S.E.2d 568, 571 (2017). The appellate court will “defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is any evidence in the record to support them.” *Id.* This Court will “not defer to a PCR court’s rulings on questions of law.” *Id.* “Questions of law are reviewed de novo, and [the appellate court] will reverse the PCR court’s decision when it is controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*

## ARGUMENTS

### *Question I*

**Should this Court require post-conviction relief judges to draft the final orders in PCR cases in order to ensure the findings of fact and conclusions of law, required by S.C. Code Ann. § 17-27-80, are those of the court, rather than an advocate, and to preserve the separation of powers between the judicial branch and executive branch as required by S.C. Const. Art. I, § 8?**

“S.C. Code Ann. §17-27-80 (1976), requires the PCR court to ‘make specific findings of fact, and state expressly its conclusions of law, relating to each issue presented.’” *McCray v. State*, 305 S.C. 329, 330, 408 S.E.2d 241, 241 (1991). *See also Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992). The PCR court did not do that, but

rather delegated the responsibility of drafting the order to the Attorney General’s Office. Compare Order of Dismissal (A. 321-45) with State’s proposed order (A. 357-81). Mr. Stafford objected to the procedure followed in this case. A. 347-49.

The reasoning in the proposed order is entirely that of an advocate and not an independent judicial officer, which violates the separation of powers. S.C. Const. Art. I, § 8. In capital cases, this Court “strongly encourage[s] PCR judges to draft their own findings of fact and conclusions of law.” *Hall v. Catoe*, 360 S.C. 353, 365, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004). The admonition in *Hall* is consistent with the lower court’s responsibility to “safeguard the rights of litigants.” *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 429, 735 S.E.2d 471, 475 (2012).

This Court expressed its ongoing frustration with the validity of final orders in PCR cases during the oral argument in *Kevin S. Epting v. State*, Appellate Case No. 2017-000696, on November 21, 2019, at 11:17 – 13:05.<sup>3</sup> One Justice referred to the Attorney General’s Office drafting the final PCR order as “the classic case of the fox guarding the henhouse,” observed PCR applicants have the right to have their issues litigated, and called on the criminal defense bar “to fix this problem.” Another Justice stated the entire Court shares these concerns.

In *Fishburne v. State*, this Court recognized the significant issues involved in drafting PCR orders:

[B]ecause the United States Constitution’s Sixth Amendment guarantee to a defendant’s right to effective assistance of counsel is engrained in PCR cases, we cannot continue to permit a party’s procedural shortcoming—

---

<sup>3</sup> <http://media.sccourts.org/videos/2017-000696.mp4>. *Epting* involved the Attorney General’s Office drafting the final order, the PCR judge signing the order that failed to address all the issues, and the applicant’s attorney not filing a Rule 59(e), SCRPC motion. On December 4, 2019, this Court dismissed *certiorari* as improvidently granted.

such as the failure to file a Rule 59(e) motion—to prevent this Court from remanding claims of ineffective assistance of counsel when the PCR court’s order does not comply with section 17-27-80.

427 S.C. 505, 516, 832 S.E.2d 584, 589 (2019). *Fishburne* set a lofty goal for “[t]he preparation and finalization of a PCR order [to be] a collaborative effort.” 427 S.C. at 516, 832 S.E.2d at 589 (2019). The final order in this case was not a “collaborative effort.”

The order denying the Rule 59(e) motion—also drafted by the Attorney General’s Office—accused Mr. Stafford of “misread[ing] both the intent and effect of *Hall* and *Fishburne*. A. 399. The order also states, “The process of submitting proposed orders is built into our rules.” A. 402 (citing Rule 5(b)(3), SCRCF). The bench and bar would benefit from his Court’s additional guidance regarding the proper procedure for preparing final orders in PCR cases. Here, the final order is an advocacy position drafted by “the fox guarding the henhouse,” rather than true judicial findings of fact and conclusions of law. Thomas Stafford’s PCR case illustrates exactly why a PCR court should not delegate the judicial function of drafting final PCR orders to an advocate. This Court, accordingly, should grant the writ and consider the issue.

### *Question II*

**Was trial counsel ineffective for not moving to withdraw the guilty plea when the State changed the plea negotiations on the eve of the guilty plea, Thomas Stafford was confused during the guilty plea, and the State did not honor its agreement to remain silent on the recommended sentence?**

“In order for a defendant to knowingly and voluntarily plead guilty, he must have a full understanding of the consequences of his plea.” *Rolen v. State*, 384 S.C. 409, 413, 683 S.E.2d 471, 473 (2009) (citing *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 241 (1969)). “A defendant who enters a plea on the advice of counsel may only attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a plea by showing that counsel’s representation fell below an

objective standard of reasonableness and that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, the defendant would not have pled guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial." *Id.* 384 S.C. at 413, 683 S.E.2d at 475. (citing *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985)). "When determining issues relating to guilty pleas, the Court will consider the entire record, including the transcript of the guilty plea, and the evidence presented at the PCR hearing." *Id.* (citing *Anderson v. State*, 342 S.C. 54, 57, 535 S.E.2d 649, 650 (2000)).

This Court consistently holds trial counsel ineffective for failing to enforce plea agreements. In *Jordan v. State*, "Jordan insisted on proceeding to trial. Jordan only agreed to plead guilty when he believed the solicitor would neither oppose nor recommend probation." 297 S.C. 52, 54, 374 S.E.2d 683, 684-85 (1988). "When the solicitor disregarded the agreement," trial counsel "failed to draw" the trial court's "attention to the plea bargain and then failed to move to withdraw [the] guilty plea." *Id.*, 297 S.C. at 54, 374 S.E.2d at 685. This Court held trial counsel's failure to protect the "right to enforce the plea agreement with the Solicitor's office fell below 'prevailing professional norms.'" *Id.* (citing *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694). "Considering the original vehemence of Jordan in pursuing his right to trial by jury," the Court further held "that there is a reasonable probability that but for the fact that Jordan's attorney failed to object to the continuation of the guilty plea proceeding once the solicitor reneged on the plea bargaining agreement, that Jordan would not have pleaded guilty, but would have insisted on going to trial." *Id.* 297 S.C. at 54-55, 374 S.E.2d at 685.

In *Thompson v. State*, "Thompson initially planned to go to trial because the codefendant was not willing to testify against him" but "decided to pursue a plea bargain only after the codefendant decided to testify against him." 340 S.C. 112, 114, 531 S.E.2d

294, 295 (2000). “During the plea negotiations, the trial judge told the attorneys he would not consider a youthful offender sentence and he would impose a sentence of at least 20 years, but not the maximum of 30 years.” *Id.* In addition, “the solicitor was not going to make a specific sentence recommendation.” *Id.* During sentencing, “[t]he solicitor requested the maximum 30 year sentence and Thompson’s attorney did not object.” *Id.* “Like the attorney in *Jordan*, Thompson’s attorney’s failure to object fell below prevailing professional norms.” *Id.*, 340 S.C. at 116, 531 S.E.2d at 296. Regarding the prejudice prong of *Strickland*, “The fact that Thompson was unsure whether to plead guilty up until the last minutes before trial coupled with the fact that he was under the impression the solicitor would not make a sentencing request is enough evidence to demonstrate a reasonable probability that Thompson would not have pled guilty but for his attorney’s ineffective assistance.” *Id.*, 340 S.C. at 117, 531 S.E.2d at 297.

Mr. Stafford’s case is similar to both *Jordan* and *Thompson*. All of the email correspondence shows that Mr. Stafford did not want to plead guilty unless the State dismissed the charge for leaving the scene of an accident. The emails illustrate trial counsel’s understating that Mr. Stafford would have to “plea to just the one charge of felony [DUI] death.” Applicant’s Ex. 12 (A. 239-40); *see also* Applicant’s Ex. 13 (A.241) (“The plea would be to plea to felony DUI (1-25 yrs.). In exchange for pleading guilty, the [S]tate is dismissing the Leaving the Scene of an Accident, death resulting (0-25 yrs.)<sup>[4]</sup> and DUI 2<sup>nd</sup>.”). The post-plea emails further confirm this understanding. Applicant’s Ex. 14 (A. 242-44) (Jim Kornmeyer stating, “I was under the impression that the hit and run was being

---

<sup>4</sup> Trial counsel was incorrect. Leaving the scene of an accident, resulting in death, actually carries a penalty of “not less than one year nor more than twenty-five years.” S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-1210(A)(3).

dismissed as part of the plea, but that was not the case.”). Applicant’s Ex. 14 also confirms that the State’s requirement to plead guilty to the leaving the scene of an accident was not known to Mr. Stafford until the eve of the guilty plea.

At the evidentiary hearing, Lisa Kornmeyer, Jim Kornmeyer, Lillian Williford, and Tina Orłowski testified they observed Mr. Stafford to be confused during the guilty plea regarding the charge of leaving the scene of an accident. E.g. 120-22, 134, 136-38, 177; *see also* A. 140-41 (Mr. Stafford explaining his confusion). These observations are confirmed by the transcript of the guilty plea when Mr. Stafford is not able to explain the meaning of an *Alford* plea in his own words. A. 14-15.

Additionally, Mr. Stafford’s case is similar to both *Jordan* and *Thompson* because the State did not honor the plea agreement. In *Jordan*, the State agreed to “neither oppose nor recommend probation.” 297 S.C. at 54, 374 S.E.2d at 684-85. In *Thompson*, the State agreed it “was not going to make a specific sentence recommendation” but during sentencing, “[t]he solicitor requested the maximum 30 year sentence.” 340 S.C. at 114, 531 S.E.2d at 295. During the PCR hearing, it became apparent that the Solicitor agreed the prosecution would remain silent on the sentence to be imposed by the court and would not to oppose Mr. Stafford’s sentencing request of two to five years, not oppose concurrent sentences for the two charges. A. 168, 185, 191, 193-96.

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