**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court**

RECEIVED

Jun 27 2025

**APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
2015-CP-32-1888
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2024-000979

Thomas Stafford, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Alan Wilson
Attorney General

Donald J. Zelenka
Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar #5758

PO Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
Office: (803) 734-3601

*Attorneys for Respondent State of
South Carolina*

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

ARGUMENTS

I. Remand is not necessary whenever the PCR Court requests a prevailing party to prepare a proposed order for the PCR Court to review. The Petitioner’s request to vacate its order was properly denied in the Rule 59 Motion.

In his initial argument before this Court the Applicant claims he was denied the right to have the matter adjudicated by a judicial officer. He claims that the responsibility was delegated to the Attorney General’s Office and that such delegation violated the separation of powers required by S.C. Const. Art. I, §8. His basis is that the PCR Court signed the proposed order presented by the Attorney General’s Office, making only minor formatting changes. He references *Hall v. Catoe*, 360 S.C. 353, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341(2004) and *Fishburne v State*, 427 S.C. 505, 832 S.E.2d 584 (2019) in support of his position.

This issue was raised below in his Rule 59 motion. App.p. 347 -348. The PCR Court denied the motion its order denying the motion. App.p. 3987-403. Respondent submit the Petitioner has failed to show error.

It is essentially the Applicant’s position that no judge should request proposed orders prepared by the parties in any case and that it is state constitutional error for this Court to sign

and adopt the order as a violation of their duty to adjudicate decisions. Petition The Applicant misreads both the intent and effect of Hall and Fishburne.

In Hall, the Court was faced with the preparation of orders in capital PCR matters. The Court there noted that “[I]t is common practice for judges to ask a party to draft a proposed order for the sake of efficiency.” Importantly, the Hall court noted the following important factors as it relates to the Applicant’s case:

The commentary to South Carolina Appellate Court Rule 501, Canon 3 B(7)(e) provides that “[a] judge may request a party to submit proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law, so long as the other parties are apprised of the request and are given an opportunity to respond to the proposed findings and conclusions.” Further, in *Pruitt v. State*, this Court directed that:

[c]ounsel preparing a proposed order should be meticulous in doing so, opposing counsel should call any omissions to the attention of the PCR judge prior to issuance of the order, and the PCR judge should carefully review the order prior to signing it. Moreover, after an order is filed, counsel has an obligation to review the order and file a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to alter or amend if the order fails to set forth the findings and the reasons for those findings as required by § 17-27-80 and Rule 52(a), SCRCP....

310 S.C. 254, 256, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992).

Hall v. Catoe, 360 S.C. 353, 364–65, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004).

In addition the Hall court concluded :

Although we strongly encourage PCR judges to draft their own findings of fact and conclusions of law in death penalty cases, we also acknowledge that in all other cases, it is common practice for judges to ask a party to draft a proposed order for the sake of efficiency. In the present case, the evidence sufficiently indicates that the PCR judge spent an adequate amount of time reviewing the order before adopting it. Further, Hall waived his right to make this challenge when he failed to file a motion to alter or amend the order. *Id.*

Hall v. Catoe, 360 S.C. 353, 365, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004) (emphasis added).

In *Fishburne*, the Court faced with an Order that the Court deemed insufficient in its fact-finding and conclusions of law on issues that were actually raised and presented. The *Fishburne* court endorsed the procedure taken in the present case, contrary to the implication of Applicant:

We do not place the blame on a single party below for an insufficient PCR order. The preparation and finalization of a PCR order is often a collaborative effort. We recognize the prevailing party often prepares a proposed order for the PCR court. See *Hall v. Catoe*, 360 S.C. 353, 365, 601 S.E.2d 335, 341 (2004) (“[I]t is common practice for judges to ask a party to draft a proposed order for the sake of efficiency.”). When counsel for either side prepares the proposed order, the order must include findings of fact and conclusions of law as to all issues raised by an applicant. A copy of the proposed order should be transmitted to opposing counsel. Opposing counsel should promptly review the proposed order and alert preparing counsel and the PCR court as to any deficiencies in the proposed order. Because the PCR judge will ultimately be signing the order, the PCR judge must carefully review the proposed order to ensure it includes appropriate findings of fact and conclusions of law as to all issues raised. Once a proposed order is finalized, signed by the PCR judge, filed, and served upon the parties, the parties should thoroughly review the final order to make sure all issues raised were adequately addressed as required by section 17-27-80 and Rule 52(a); if they were not, a timely Rule 59(e) motion should be filed, requesting the PCR court to address the appropriate issues. When these steps are ignored on the front end, we find ourselves having to remand a case, as we do today.

Fishburne v. State, 427 S.C. 505, 516, 832 S.E.2d 584, 589–90 (2019). See also *Pruitt v. State*, 310 S.C. 254, 423 S.E.2d 127 (1992)

Like in *Hall*, adequate steps were taken in the matter. On July 25, 2023, after reviewing the Applicant’s post-hearing brief, the Court emailed both counsel indicating a decision to deny relief and requested a proposed order reflecting the court’s ruling. As noted in the Court’s Rule 59 Order, on December 29, 2023, the Respondents emailed a copy of Respondent’s proposed order to the PCR Court and counsel with the following email:

Judge Miller, et al.

Attached is Respondent's Proposed Order in the above-captioned case heard by Judge Miller on June 22, 2023. I am providing a copy simultaneously to Applicant's retained counsel Charles Grose for his initial review as well.

If further information or transcripts are required, please advise me. My apologies to the Court, Mr. Grose, and his client for my delay in getting this matter and request completed.

December 29, 2023 Email.

There was no opposition to the preparation of a proposed order by the State nor to the Court's request from July 25, 2023 through December 29, 2023 when the proposed order was submitted to this Court nor from December 29 through January 19, 2024 when the Order was signed by this Court. This is contrary to the demands upon Applicant's counsel with procedures set out in *Fishburne*.

Respondent submits the PCR Court did not abdicate its role in judicial adjudication as Applicant suggests. After reviewing the Applicant's brief, this Court requested the State to submit a proposed order finding that Applicant's counsel did not fall below the objective standard of reasonableness and that he was not prejudiced by the conduct. *July 25, 2023 email*. Next, after receipt of the proposed order on December 29, 2023 until this Court signed an Order of Dismissal, the Applicant was silent about his current contention that the State was not authorized to prepare a proposed order nor that the Court acted in violation of Article I. Section 8 or §17-27-80 in the mere request for a proposed order from a prevailing party. In addition, like the setting in *Hall*, in the present case, the evidence sufficiently indicates that the PCR judge spent an adequate amount of time reviewing the order before adopting it.

The request to have the Court withdraw its order its January 19, 2024 should be is denied. The process of submitting proposed orders is built into our rules, (see Rule 5(b)(3),

SCRCP), and custom, *Hall*, 360 S.C. at 365, 601 S.E.2d at 341. Further, a long line of precedent, state and federal, allows the acceptance of proposed order language where the court independently reviews and adopts the language as its own. *See, e.g., Jefferson v. Upton*, 560 U.S. 284, 293-94 (2010) (acknowledging prior holdings that “verbatim adoption of findings of fact prepared by prevailing parties” should be treated as findings of the court though recognizing it had “also criticized that practice.”) (citing *Anderson v. Bessemer City*, 470 U.S. 564, 572 (1985)) ; *State v. Holmes*, 832 S.E.2d 777, 781 (Ga. 2019) (“It is well established that a trial court may request and then adopt a proposed order from one party. Doing so does not itself demonstrate an absence of cautious discretion.”) (internal citations omitted); *McGahee v. State*, 885 So.2d 191, 229–30 (Ala.Crim.App.2003) (“even when a trial court adopts verbatim a party’s proposed order, the findings of fact and conclusions of law are those of the trial court and they may be reversed only if they are clearly erroneous.”). *See also Bryant v. Stirling*, No. 9:16-cv-1423-DCN-MHC, 2022 WL 10686835 *12 n. 6 (D.S.C. April 19, 2022) (“As this court and others have recognized on many occasions, it is disfavored for courts to wholesale adopt proposed findings and conclusion by one party; “[n]onetheless, the disposition of a petitioner’s constitutional claims in such a manner is unquestionably and ‘adjudication’ by the state court.”).

Respondent submits that certiorari should be denied on this issue.

II. Certiorari is not warranted where there is sufficient evidence to support the findings of fact and legal conclusion that the Petitioner failed to show that counsel was ineffective in failing to move to withdraw the guilty plea where testimony found credible was that at the time of the plea there was no unkept plea bargain. The actual plea offer that was accepted at the entry of the plea was that the Applicant would plead guilty to felony DUI resulting in death and plead guilty under *North Carolina v. Alford* to leaving the scene of an accident resulting in death without a negotiated sentence, without a sentence recommendation by the prosecution and the defense was free to argue whatever sentence it deemed appropriate. This is supported by evidence found credible at the hearing.

This Court must find that the Applicant failed in his burden of proof on his first allegation. In his assertion in the Petition, the Applicant contends that counsel should have moved to withdraw the guilty plea because the plea was inconsistent with counsel's understanding of the charges Stafford was going to face because it was the understanding of the family members that the hit and run (leaving the scene) charge would be dismissed as a result of the plea bargain. Petition, p. 10-11. The Applicant contends that the State did not honor the plea agreement, relying upon email correspondence that predated the day of the plea and the testimony of family members present at the plea who asserted Applicant was confused at the time of the plea. The PCR Court rejected that argument and determined there was no unkept plea bargain agreed between the parties and no basis for counsel to either object or move to withdraw the guilty pleas. App.p. 332-339, 404-406.

Trial counsel must provide reasonably effective assistance under "prevailing professional norms." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 688, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Reviewing courts presume counsel was effective. Id. at 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Therefore, to receive relief, a PCR applicant must prove: (1) counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms and was deficient; and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the applicant's case. Id. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

There is credible evidence in the record to support that the PCR Court correctly concluded that the plea bargain entered at the time of the entry of the guilty plea was satisfied by the actions of the Applicant, defense counsel and the prosecutor. App.p. 334-335. On the day the plea was entered and the time it was entered the relevant parties were aware of and accepted the terms of the plea offer. The PCR Court findings that the actual plea offer that was accepted at the entry of the plea was that the Applicant would plead guilty to felony DUI resulting in death and plead guilty under North Carolina v. Alford to leaving the scene of an accident resulting in death without a

negotiated sentence, without a sentence recommendation by the prosecution and the defense was free to argue whatever sentence it deemed appropriate is supported by evidence found credible at the hearing.. App.p. 334-335. In return the prosecutor agreed to dismiss the pending DUI second offense. This Court further finds that the 17 year concurrent sentences the Applicant received were consistent with the agreed negotiation.

The Applicant relies upon two prior South Carolina cases that are distinguishable in the present setting. He relies upon Thompson v. State, 340 S.C. 112, 116, 531 S.E.2d 294, 296 (2000), to support our conclusion. In Thompson, plea counsel failed to object after the solicitor recommended the maximum sentence in violation of the earlier plea agreement. 340 S.C. at 115, 531 S.E.2d at 296. Thompson was indicted for murder and pleaded guilty to voluntary manslaughter. *Id.* at 113, 531 S.E.2d at 295. Thompson testified at the PCR hearing that he chose to plead guilty because he was under the assumption the solicitor was not going to make a sentencing request or recommendation. *Id.* at 114, 531 S.E.2d at 295. In addition, Thompson's attorney testified she told him prior to the plea the solicitor was not going to make a sentencing recommendation. *Id.* Thompson's attorney also confirmed to the plea court that the solicitor had correctly and completely stated the plea agreement and there was nothing further that needed to be added regarding the plea negotiations. *Id.* at 116, 531 S.E.2d at 296. Our supreme court found there was a reasonable probability that Thompson would not have pled guilty but for his attorney's ineffective assistance because he entered his guilty plea in reliance on the sentencing range and the solicitor's agreement not to make any sentencing recommendations. *Id.* at 117, 531 S.E.2d at 297.

The Applicant also relies upon Jordan v. State, 297 S.C. 52, 374 S.E.2d 683 (1988). In Jordan, the defendant agreed to plead guilty because he believed the solicitor would neither oppose

nor recommend probation. Id. at 54, 374 S.E.2d at 685. When the solicitor in Jordan reneged on the plea agreement and recommended against probation, Jordan's attorney failed to draw the plea judge's attention to the plea bargain and then failed to move to withdraw Jordan's guilty plea. Id. Therein, the Supreme Court held that “the conduct of Jordan's counsel in not protecting Jordan's right to enforce the plea agreement with the Solicitor's office fell below prevailing professional norms.” Id. (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984)). Like the attorney in Jordan, Thompson's attorney's failure to object fell below prevailing professional norms. See also Smith v. South Carolina, 775 S.E.2d 696 (S.C. 2015) (the supreme court found deficient performance when trial counsel failed to object to the solicitor's recommendation that the defendant receive maximum punishment after the solicitor promised to remain silent during sentencing).

As found by the PCR Court, this case is distinguishable from both cases. Unlike Thompson and Jordan, at the time the actual plea was entered the defense counsel, the Applicant and the prosecution were aware that the agreed negotiations now additionally included the entry of the Alford plea to leaving the scene of the accident. This is supported by the credible testimony of defense counsel and prosecutor. App.p. 161-164 (defense counsel); App.p. 115-184-186, 191-195 (prosecutor). In his PCR testimony, the Applicant acknowledged that he indicated to the judge that he had spoken with his counsel and was aware that leaving the scene was part of the negotiation, although he initially claimed App.p. 144-145. See, Guilty Plea Tr.p. 12, l. 6-11. In particular, his plea colloquy is revealing:

THE COURT: They further tell me that you want to plead guilty to hit and run involving a death and what we sometimes call leaving the scene of an accident where a death was involved. That also carries a mandatory one year up to 25 years in prison. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir.

App.p. 12, l. 6-11, Plea Tr.p. 4.

THE COURT: As to the charge of leaving the scene of an accident where a death was involved, do you believe that the State could produce sufficient evidence to prove your guilt on tie charges beyond a reasonable doubt, and that if you went to trial, a jury would most probably find you guilty?

MS. GOOD: Your Honor, the reason we're pleading under Alford, he believes that possibly they couldn't, but he knows based on the evidence that they could.

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